
 
 
 

 
 
 

          8 November 2016 
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
 

CHANDLER'S FORD AND HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Wednesday, 16 November 2016 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
The Dovetail Centre, Methodist Church, Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford,  

SO53 2GJ 

 
TO: Councillor Pamela Holden-Brown (Chair) 
 Councillor Alan Broadhurst (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Margaret Atkinson Councillor Mrs Haulwen Broadhurst 
Councillor Judith Grajewski Councillor Daniel Hatfield 
Councillor Michael Hughes Councillor David Pragnell 

 
Staff Contacts: Mateusz Dobrowolski,  Democratic Services Officer  

Tel:023 8068 8080; Email: mateusz.dobrowolski@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 Min Partner, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8439;  

Email: min.partner@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

RICHARD WARD 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - 

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk 
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request. 
 

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public. 

 

 
Eastleigh House 

 Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 
1. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 4)  

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2016. 
  
2. Apologies     
 
3. Declarations of Interest      

 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

  
4. Public Participation     
 
5. Chairman's report     
 
6. Report of the Local Area Manager     
 
7. Fees and charges - Report of the Local Area Manager    (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
8. Presentation on Planning Guidelines     
 
9. Planning Application - Little 1 Nursery, 49 Valley Road, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, 

SO53 1GS    (Pages 9 - 24)  

 One and two storey rear extension & single storey side extensions to replace 
existing single storey additions, provision of temporary 

classroom building at rear & variation of condition 2 of planning 

permission F/08/62770 to increase nursery capacity from 50 to 69 

children attending at any one time - Ref.F/16/79277. 
  
10. Planning Application - 14 Kingsway Gardens, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 

1FE    (Pages 25 - 32)  

 Two storey rear extension, addition of box dormer to side elevation and alterations 
to front façade - Ref.F/16/79104. 

  
11. Planning application - Hocombe Mead Local Nature Reserve, South of Ashdown 

Road, Chandler's Ford, SO53 5QD    (Pages 33 - 38)  

 Coppicing of woodland - Ref.T/16/79061. 
  
12. Planning Appeals      

 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services to report that the following appeal has 
been allowed:- 
  
1 Merdon Close, Chandler’s Ford, Hampshire SO53 1EF - 
Appeal against a refusal to grant planning permission for a two storey side and 
rear extension.(Ref: F/16/78240) 
 

 



  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 
updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Wednesday, 18 January 2017 at 7:00 pm 

at The Dovetail Centre, Methodist Church, 
Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford, SO53 2GJ 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CHANDLER'S FORD AND HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 14 September 2016  (7:00 pm – 8:15 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillors A Broadhurst (Vice-Chair in Chair), Atkinson, Mrs Broadhurst, 
Grajewski, Hatfield and M Hughes 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Holden-Brown and 
Pragnell.  
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

1. MINUTES 
 
The Vice-Chairman in the Chair noted that Item 4, Chairman’s Report, on 
page 1 of the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2016 be amended to 
read ‘Chair was pleased that Hampshire County Council erected the 
Hocombe Road and Hiltingbury Road signage’ 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 06 July 2016 be confirmed 
and signed by the Vice-Chairman in the Chair as a correct record. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of Interest in relations to items of business on 
the Agenda. 
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation at this time. 
 

4. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 
 
The Vice-Chairman in the Chair invited everyone to partake in a minute of 
silence in honour of Councillor Roger Smith and the recent passing of 
former Councillor Terry Holden-Brown, husband of the Chairman, 
Councillor Pamela Holden-Brown. 
 

5. AREA CO-ORDINATOR'S REPORT 
 
The Local Area Co-ordinator reported: 
 
Hiltingbury Pavilion Development Project. 

1

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

TKL architects had delivered the feasibility study, examining the viability of 
both a major refurbishment of the existing pavilion or rebuilding it. Project 
team would now analyse both proposals and feed them back to Project 
Board. 
Hopefully this project would be started within next 18 months. 
  
Future Eastleigh  
As previously reported, the Council had been undergoing a major service 
redesign. This redesign would aim to make the Council more customer-
focused and more efficient, enabling it to continue to deliver a high level 
service to residents on the back of year on year cuts.  
  
The role of the Local Area Co-ordinator, alongside all other Senior 
Managers, had been scrutinised as the Council sought to ensure it had the 
right people with the right skills in the right jobs. The role of Area Co-
ordinator would still exist in part, though it would be now known as a Local 
Area Manager. The roles would be similar, though the new role would 
seek to provide a greater strategic overview.  
  
Andrew Thompson would now be the new Local Area Manager for 
Bishopstoke Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area Committee and Min 
Partner would be the Local Area Manager for Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury Local Area Committee.  
 
The Hiltingbury Pavilion project would continue to be overseen by Andrew 
Thompson until completion. 
 
Members took the opportunity to thank Andy Thompson for all the 
involvement and hard work over the last year. 
 

6. IMPLEMENTATION OF A PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER - 
CHANDLER'S FORD 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Community Safety and 
Emergency Planning Manager, Melvin Hartley, (Agenda item 7) who 
delivered the report on the proposal to make a Public Space Protection 
Order (PSPO) for Chandler’s Ford which would allow authorised officers 
powers to tackle drinking, when associated with anti-social behaviour. The 
report outlined the proposal, the findings of the public consultation and 
supporting arguments for the introduction of the order. 
 
The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, which came into 
force in October 2014, brought in new powers to allow Local Authorities to 
better tackle anti-social behaviour in their area. One of these powers was 
the ability to make a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO). These 
powers were adopted by the Council’s Cabinet on 18 June 2015. 
 
The Council consulted on the making of a Public Spaces Protection Order 
(PSPO) in the summer of 2016, to assist in addressing the unreasonable 
and persistent anti-social behaviour which was detrimentally affecting the 

2



3 
 

quality of life of residents, businesses and visitors to Chandler’s Ford 
centre. 
 
Since October 2015 there had been an increasing number of calls and 
complaints by members of the public and local businesses to the police 
and the Council about anti-social behaviour in Chandler’s Ford town centre 
generally, and in Fryern Arcade in particular. Most of these calls related to 
behaviour by adult males who were drinking alcohol, fighting or urinating in 
public.  The police received 57 calls in the period between 16 October 
2015 and 17 April 2016. They also made use of S35 Dispersal Orders, 
which allowed them, on a temporary basis, to require persons behaving in 
an anti-social manner to leave the area. Twelve statements from the public 
were also obtained. 
 
Following representations by the police, shopkeepers, and members of the 
public, the Council’s community safety team decided that it should 
consider using the powers granted to it to try and control the behaviour 
that was being complained of. The measure proposed is the introduction of 
a controlled alcohol zone. 
 
The Order would provide the police and other accredited officers with the 
power to require individuals to stop consuming alcohol within the 
designated public place.  Such an Oder would provide a power of 
confiscation and disposal of the alcohol, plus a police power of arrest 
should an individual fail to comply with directions.   
 
PSPO would be enforced for the period of three years and then could be 
reviewed and renewed by the Local Area Committee.  
 
RESOLVED -    
 
That the Local Area Committee agree the making of the Public 
Spaces Protection Order as set out in the draft Order in Appendix A 
to the report, for a period of three years. 
 

7. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework. 
 

8. PLANNING APPLICATION - 52 NICHOL ROAD, CHANDLER'S FORD, 
EASTLEIGH, SO53 5AW 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Development 
Management (Agenda item 9) concerning an application for a two storey 
front, side and rear extension with new vehicular access from Nichol Road 
(amended design to F/16/78335). (Ref: F/16/78963). 
 

3



4 
 

The Committee was advised that due to the scale, form, design and 
proximity to the boundary of Randall road, the development would be 
overly prominent and visually intrusive to the street scene and appearance 
of the surrounding area.  
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That permission be REFUSED. 
 
(NOTES: (1) Four residents spoke in objection to the application citing a 
number of issues including: the overbearing scale of the proposed 
extension; and its design and the effect it would have on the neighbouring 
area. 
(2) The applicant spoke in support of the application, stating that the 
proposed extension did not increase the size of the previously approved 
plans by much and that it would not be too close to the property boundary; 
and (3) Councillor Grajewski chose not to take part in the Members 
discussion and did not vote.) 
 

9. PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services reported:- 
 
(a) That the following appeal had been lodged:-  
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a two 
storey side and rear extension, and a single storey rear extension. 1 
Merdon Close, Chandlers Ford, Eastleigh. SO53 1EF  
 
This was a Delegated Decision.  

 
(b) That the following appeals had been allowed:-  
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for change 
of use of land to private garden: Retrospective (amended description) 
at 6 Wellbrooke Gardens, Chandler’s Ford (Ref: F/15/76762) 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant consent to undertake work 
to a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) at 13 
Grosvenor Road, Chandler’s Ford, (Ref: T/15/77691)  

 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
M5646 
 
 

4



 

 1 

 
 
 

CHANDLER’S FORD AND HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday 16 November 2016 
 

FEES AND CHARGES  
 

Report of the Local Area Manager 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Local Area Committee approve the Cemeteries fees 
and charges to come into effect from 1st January 2017.  

 

Purpose 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis. In 
accordance with the budget strategy approved by the Cabinet in October, fees and 
charges levied by the Council are being reviewed with the intention of increases 
being introduced with effect from January 2017 where possible. 
 
Statutory Power 
 
Section 151 of the, Local Government Act 1972 

Introduction 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to examine fully the effects of income received by 

the Council with regard to fees and charges levied for services that are the 
responsibility of Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury LAC.  A minimum increase in 
yield of 2.6% for all fees and charges is recommended to be implemented from 
January 2017 where possible. 
 

2. Local Area Committees have the discretion to set fees for services devolved to 
their areas subject to compliance with the corporate target to generate an 
additional minimum yield from fees and charges of 2.6%.  
  

Cemeteries 
 

3. The Service Manager has recommended increasing the Fees and Charges for 
Cemeteries from 1st January 2017 and the proposed charges are shown in 
Appendix A.  

 

Risk Management 
 

4. The policy of increasing charges for services at a level of 1.0% above inflation as 
measured by RPIX is part of the Council’s approved Budget Strategy. There is a 

5

Agenda Item 7



 

 2 

risk that proposed charges will not yield the overall anticipated 2.6% additional 
income target for the budget but this will be monitored closely during the quarterly 
Corporate Budget Monitoring processes throughout the year. 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

5. Any service equality and diversity implications will have been considered by 
Heads of Service as part of their Service Planning processes. No equality and 

diversity implications have been identified. 
 

Conclusion 
 

A review of the local area committee fees and charges has been undertaken and 
where possible the review reflects the budget requirement to achieve a 2.6% 
increase in yield. It is recommended that the fees and charges come into effect 
from the 1st January 2017. 

 
 

MIN PARTNER 
Local Area Manager 

 
 
Report No:  AC917MP 
Date:   17 October 2016 
Contact Officer:  Mandy Nellthorpe  
Telephone:  023 8068 8082 
E-Mail:   mandy.nellthorpe@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices:   1 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D 

 
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information: 

None 
 
 

6



 

 3 

 
Appendix A 

 
Cemeteries Fees and Charges with effect from 1 Jan 2017 
 

Cemeteries 
 

1 Jan 
2016 

£ 

1 Jan 
2017 

 £ 

Change 
% 

Internment:- 
All charges inclusive of VAT where applicable 

   

Child less than 12 years old (including still born) No Charge No Charge - 

Single depth 880.00 903.00  2.6 

Double depth 1,120.00 1,150.00 2.7 

Re-open to single depth 950.00 975.00 2.6 

Cremated remains 295.00 303.00 2.7 

For right to scatter ashes 80.00 82.00 2.5 

Additional charge for providing a 24 hour burial 
service 

490.00 503.00 2.7 

Exhumation At Cost At Cost  

Additional Charge for Weekend Working 
Or late funerals incurring overtime 

185.00 190.00 2.7 

Plot in Columbarium (includes purchase and 
rights for inscribed plaque and first interment) 

750.00 770.00 2.7 

Exclusive burial rights: - 30 years 1 Jan 
2016 

£ 

1 Jan 
2017 

 £ 

Change 
% 

Plot selected by Council  (purchased at time of 
burial):- 

   

Plot for Adult 765.00 785.00 2.6 

Plot for Child 435.00 447.00 2.8 

Plot for Cremated remains 310.00 320.00 3.2 

Plot selected by Purchaser (Purchased in 
advance):- Only available at Eastleigh 
Cemetery 

1 Jan 
2016 

£ 

1 Jan  
2016  

£ 

Change 
% 

Plot for Cremated remains 460.00 472.00 2.6 

Transferral of burial deeds 95.00 98.00 3.2 

Memorials: 
 

1 Jan 
2016 

£ 

1 Jan 
2017 

 £ 

Change 
% 

Inscribing vase under 10” 83.00 85.00 2.4 

Any memorial (includes memorial licence for 10 
years) 

330.00 339.00 2.7 

Charges for additional inscription 75.00 77.00 2.7 

Memorial shrubs or roses for 7 years 145.00 149.00 2.8 

Memorial trees for 7 years At Cost At Cost  

Memorial benches for 7 years At Cost At Cost  

Memorial benches for additional 7 years 78.00 80.00 2.6 

 
N.B Double charges will be made for all of the above fees to non- residents (after 
two years outside of the Borough).  An exception is made where a resident transfers 
outside the Borough for specialist Nursing Home or Hospital Care. 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 16 November 2016 Case Officer Mark 
Taylor 

 
 
SITE: Little 1 Nursery, 49 Valley Road, Chandler's Ford, 

Eastleigh, SO53 1GS 
 
 Ref. F/16/79277 Received: 30/09/2016     (25/11/2016) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Mirza 

 
PROPOSAL: One & two storey rear extension & single storey side 

extensions to replace existing single storey additions, 
provision of temporary classroom building at rear & 
variation of condition 2 of planning permission 
F/08/62770 to increase nursery capacity from 50 to 69 
children attending at any one time 

  
AMENDMENTS:  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The application is recommended for approval subject to the securing of 
appropriate developer contributions and a Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
PERMIT 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 

from the date of this decision.   Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
(2)  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 

with the following plans numbered: A, B Rev 1, C, D, E, F, G. Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

  
(3)  The development hereby permitted shall not begin until revised details of 

external play provision, including the length, size and time of play 
sessions, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  Reason: To protect the amenity of 
neighbouring properties. 

  

9

Agenda Item 9



 

 

(4)  Notwithstanding the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment and 
Method Statement (Ref. 2918-010)  produced by Christopher Stringer of 
Shawyers Tree Specialists, dated 11th March 2016. The implementation 
of the temprary classroom shall not start until an revised Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment, Method Statement, Tree Survey and a protective 
fencing plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The additional details must include details of the 
footings for the building, and outline how  the utility services will be 
provided to the building.  The development must accord with the 
approved details and to the appropriate British Standard. Reason - To 
retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the 
amenity of the locality. 

  
(5) No development shall commence until a site meeting has taken place 

with the site manager, the retained consulting arboriculturalist and a 
representative from the Local Planning Authority. Work cannot commence 
until the LPA officer has inspected and approved the proposed tree 
protection.  Once approved no access by vehicles or placement of goods, 
chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall take place within the fenced 
area. The fencing shall be retained in its approved form for the duration of 
the work. All other aspects of the Arboricultural Implications Assessment 
and Method Statement will be addressed at this meeting. This tree 
condition may only be fully discharged on completion of the development 
subject to satisfactory written evidence of monitoring and compliance by 
the pre-appointed tree specialist during construction. Reason - To retain 
and protect the existing trees which form an important part of the amenity 
of the locality. 

  
(6) The development must accord with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

and Method Statement (Ref. 2918-010)  produced by Christopher Stringer 
of Shawyers Tree Specialists, dated 11th March 2016 . Tree Protection 
must be addressed as per the Tree Protection Plan enclosed within the 
report. Reason - To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality. 

  
(7)  The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 

the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture 
those used on the existing building.   Reason: To ensure a satisfactory 
visual relationship between the new development and the existing. 

  
(8)  No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during 

the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.   Reason:  To protect the amenities of the 
occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

  
(9) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking 

area  has been provided in accordance with the approved plans and 
thereafter permanently retained and used only for the purpose of 
accommodating  motor vehicles incidental to the use of the premises. 

10



 

 

Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 

  
(10) The development hereby permitted shall be used for a childrens day 

nursery and for no other purpose (including any purpose in Class D1 of 
the Schedule of the Use Classes (Amendment) Order 2005, or in any 
provision equivalent to that class in any Statutory Instrument revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification). Reason:  To restrict 
the use of the premises in the interests of highway safety and local 
amenity. 

  
(11) The Children's Day Nursery must not open except between 0800 hours 

and 1800 hours Monday to Friday, and not at all on Saturday, Sunday 
and Bank Holidays.  Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the area 
and neighbouring properties. 

  
(12) No more than 69 children shall be able to attend the Children's Day 

Nursery at any one time.  Reason: To prevent unacceptable disturbance 
to neighbouring properties. 

  
(13) The detached classroom hereby permitted shall be for a limited period 

expiring on 31/12/2019. On or before this date:   
a) the building and any associated materials and equipment shall be 
removed from the site;    
b) the land shall be restored to its former use and condition in accordance 
with the details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Reason: The development is:  1. Of a type 
not considered suitable for permanent retention  2. To enable the Local 
Planning Authority to assess the impact of the proposed development. 

  
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to 
achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all 
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

  
Flood Risk Activity - The prior written consent of the Environment Agency 
is required for any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within 
8 metres of the top of the bank of the Monks Brook which is designated a 
‘main river’.  Please be aware that the Environment Agency has up to two 
months to determine applications for a permit and you are therefore 
advised to contact the local Environment Agency office as soon as 
possible to discuss making an application.  Consent will only be issued if 
the works do not pose a flood risk to people and property, and do not 
conflict with the Environment Agency’s other duties 

  
 

 
 
 

11



 

 

Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee in order to be consistent 

with the previous applications on this site. 
 
Description of Application 
 
2. The application seeks approval for extensions and additions to the existing 

building as well as an increase in the number of children permitted to 
attend the nursery at any one time to 69 from the current capacity of 50 
which is imposed by condition 2 of planning permission F/08/62770. The 
proposals also include the provision of a temporary classroom to be sited 
at the rear of the plot, which it is stated within the submission may be 
required during construction works on the main building.  

 
3. The proposed extensions at ground floor level consist of additions to both 

flank elevations and to the rear, with these replacing existing pre-
fabricated structures and covered external play areas. These extensions 
are to provide for a re-sited kitchen area and a dining room, as well as 
additional play rooms.  

 
4. At first floor, additional floor space is to be provided by a gable-ended 

extension at the rear. These will create new and enlarged staff facilities in 
the form of additional WCs and storage and office space, as well as a 
lecture / training room at the rear.  

 
Trees 
 
5. There are a number of mature and semi-mature trees both on and in the 

vicinity of the application site; a number of these trees are subject to Tree 
Preservation Orders. These include those to the front of the site, in the 
proximity of the western boundary alongside the adjacent Monks Brook, 
and in the north-western corner of the plot. No trees are proposed to be 
removed as part of the proposals and the application is supported by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement.  

 
Boundary Treatment 
 
6. The front boundary of the site consists of a low-level brick wall with a 

mixture of hedging, planting and mature trees in behind. The western side 
of the plot frontage is marked by a timber picket fence, with hedging and 
trees to the opposing boundary. To the rear, the amenity / play area for the 
nursery is largely surrounded by 1.8-2m high timber fencing.  

 
Site Characteristics 
 
7. The application premises is a chalet style property which was originally a 

residential dwelling. The building has for the past 10 years been utilised as 
a children’s day nursery for children aged between 0 and 5 years. The 
capacity of the nursery is currently limited to 50 children by condition 2 of 

12



 

 

planning permission F/08/62770. The building has a fully hipped-roof with 
box-dormers to the front and eastern roof slopes, with there being a single-
storey gable-ended projection to the property’s principal elevation. There 
are pre-fabricated flat-roof single storey additions to the rear and both 
sides, with adjoining covered external play areas. The premises have a car 
parking area to the front and an amenity space to the rear. The site is 
relatively flat and level.  

 
Character of Locality 
 
8. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature and made up 

of mainly detached and semi-detached single and two storey dwellings set 
on good sized plots. Many are well screened with mature trees and 
planting.  

 
Relevant Planning History 
 

 F/05/54121 – Change of use to children’s day nursery (D1 use class) – 
Refused 26/08/2005 – Allowed on Appeal 24/04/2006 
 

 F/07/60198 – Erection of rear conservatory – Permitted 26/07/2007 
 

 F/08/62770 – Variation to condition 4 of planning permission 
F/05/54121 to increase the number of children attending from 30 to 50 
– Permitted 23/07/2008 
 

 F/16/77844 - One and two storey side and rear extensions to replace 
existing, alterations to roof and provision of temporary classroom 
building at rear. Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 
F/08/62770 to increase the number of children attending from 50 to 75 
– Withdrawn 13/06/2016 

 
Representations Received 
 
9. A total of five representations have been received in relation to the 

planning application; four in objection, one in support. 
 

10. The letter in support of the proposals was received from an existing parent 
with children both at the nursery as well as on the waiting list and this 
highlighted what is described as the fantastic level of care provided by the 
facility.  

 
11. The other four letters received were from nearby neighbouring residents 

who raised objections on the following grounds: 
 

 Increased parking with staff parking in surrounding streets and causing 
obstructions.  

 Noise generated by additional children for neighbouring residents. 
 
 

13



 

 

Consultation Responses 
 
12. Head of Environmental Health: No Objection. It was noted that the site is 

in close proximity to existing residential properties, includes extensive 
works to the property including the roof structure, and that the nursery will 
remain open during the development. Any late or weekend working 
outside of the operating hours of the business has the potential to impact 
on the amenity of existing properties and a condition restricting hours of 
construction and demolition work was therefore recommended.   
 

13. The development if permitted may increase the risk of impact upon 
amenity, but probably will not do so to a significant degree.    A condition 
that requires the details of external play provision, including the length, 
size and time of play sessions, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority should be applied.  

 

14. Head of Transportation and Engineering: No Objection on highway 
grounds subject to Developer Contributions, a Traffic Regulation Order 
and a condition securing the parking facilities. 

 

15. Objection to the proposed temporary classroom due its location with flood 
zone 3.  

 

16. Head of Countryside and Trees (Tree Officer): No objection subject to 
conditions.  However details are lacking regarding the construction of the 
temporary classroom. If the temporary classroom remains within the 
application, the arboricultural report must be updated with information 
regarding the proposed installation of the temporary classroom in close 
proximity of the oak tree (T.2). Details of the footings for the building 
should be submitted and how utility services will be provided. 
 

17. Environment Agency: No objection in principle to the proposed 
development of the bungalow.  However the Environment Agency Object 
to the proposed temporary classroom due its location with flood zone 3.  

 

18. Hampshire County Council Children’s Services Department: Given 
the size of the proposal Hampshire County Council will not be seeking a 
contribution towards education. 

 
Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Residential Area 

 Within Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and 8m Main River 
Buffer 

 The Site is Subject to Tree Preservation Orders (TPO 58 and 297) 
 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, Saved Policies:  

14



 

 

o 43.ES & 44.ES (Flooding and erosion) 
o 59.BE (Promoting good design) 
o 100.T and 101.T (Transport and new development) 
o 186.IN (Community facilities).  

 

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 
Policies:  
o DM1 (General criteria for new development)  
o DM4 (Flood risk), DM (General development criteria – transport) 
o  DM24 (Parking), DM35 (Community, leisure and cultural facilities) 

 
The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule 
of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 
(January 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 
updated 2010) 

  
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications 

for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 
14 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and states that development proposals which accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. Where the development plan is 
absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
outweigh the benefits; or specific policies in the Framework indicate 
development should be restricted (paragraph 14). Local plan policies that 
do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-of-date”. The 
NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. In 
other words the closer the policies in the plan accord to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
20. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 

consideration of planning applications.  
 
Policy Commentary 
 
21. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against 

which this application will be assessed with particular regard to the 

15



 

 

principle of the development proposed, the need for additional capacity at 
the nursery, layout and design, flood risk, highway matters, residential 
amenity, and the impact of the proposals on the character of the area.  

 
Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received 
 
22. The comments received are noted with the matters raised being covered 

in the below assessment of the proposals where appropriate.  
 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 
 
23.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states: 

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

24. In this case, the policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Principle: 
 
25. The application site lies within the urban edge and is an existing and 

established community facility in the form of a children’s nursery. Saved 
Policy 186.IN allows for the extension or improvement of facilities for use 
by the community within the urban edge provided that they will not 
adversely affect the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties by reason of noise, disturbance, smells, floodlighting and other 
factors. The principle of the development proposed is therefore considered 
to be acceptable subject to the exact details of that proposed being 
considered appropriate and conforming to this specified criteria as well as 
that of the other relevant local plan policies and supplementary guidance. 
 

26. In addition to Saved Policy 186.IN, the most relevant adopted Local Plan 
policies in this case are: 
 

27. Saved Policy 43.ES which states that development will only be permitted 
within areas at risk of flooding where: it is demonstrated that the site is 
adequately defended from flooding; or, a risk assessment demonstrates 
that measures incorporated into the scheme would prevent either life being 
endangered or an unacceptable likelihood of damage to property; and, it 
does not harm the integrity or maintenance of a flood defence structure, or 
inhibit the maintenance of a watercourse for the purpose of minimising 
flood risk, or increase flood risks elsewhere. 

 
28. Saved Policy 44.ES which states that proposals for extensions, within 

areas at risk of flooding will be refused where they would increase the 
number of people at risk of flooding or would result in an unacceptable 
loss of floodplain storage. 

 

16



 

 

29. Saved Policy 59.BE which requires development to take full and proper 
account of the context of the site including the character and appearance 
of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design 
and siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape design, have a 
satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and 
pedestrians, make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly 
impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, noise and fumes. 

 
30. Saved Policy 100.T states that development which accords with the 

requirements of the other relevant development plan policies will be 
permitted providing it meets a range of criteria which include: (i) it is, or 
could be, well served by public transport, cycling and walking; (ii) it 
includes measures that minimise its impact on the existing transport 
network; and (iii) where a large number of journeys are likely to be 
generated, the development is located to minimise travel demand and 
provide a choice of transport mode.  

 
Need 
 
31. The planning statement submitted in support of the application sets out 

that the nursery seeks to increase the capacity of the nursery by 38% 
(from a limit of 50 children to 69) which it is stated would enable the 
nursery to accommodate the increase associated with the Department for 
Education (DFE) requirements of 30 hours implementation of Early Years 
funding from September 2017.  
 

32. This need is recognised by the Local Planning Authority and this weighs in 
favour of the development. This must, however, be balanced against the 
other considerations associated with the proposals. 
 

Layout, design and impact on the street scene and character of the area 
 
33. Saved Policy 59.BE (i) of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-

2011 requires that development takes full and proper account of the 
context of the site including the character and appearance of the locality or 
neighbourhood and that it is appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, 
density, design and siting. In addition, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) stipulates that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development and is indivisible from good planning (para 56) 
and that permission should be refused for development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and 
quality of an area and the way it functions (Para. 64). 
 

34. The proposed extensions represent sympathetic additions to the existing 
building which will allow the accommodation available to be increased to 
facilitate the extra childcare required. The scheme has been revised from 
the previously withdrawn proposal F/16/77844. The proposed bulk 
particularly in the upper floor has been substantially reduced resulting in a 
proposal more in keeping with the character of the area in terms of design 

17



 

 

and scale. 
 

35. The additions, at ground floor level, will replace existing pre-fabricated 
structures in the form of flat roof extensions and covered external play 
areas. These existing structures are of a design and materials that 
contrast with the host building.  Their replacements are of single storey 
only and are of design and materials that matches the existing character of 
the original building and the locality.  Furthermore the site benefits from 
significant screening from the mature trees and planting to the front of the 
premises.  These additions to the ground floor are set back more than 20 
metres from the highway further mitigating any impact of the street scene. 
 

36. The proposed additions to the roof form will not be readily visible from the 
public realm.  Furthermore gabled roofs do form part of the established 
character of the area that has a mixture of property heights and roof forms.  
The scale is appropriate and the materials used will match those of the 
existing building.  Such materials can be secured by condition. 
 

37. The proposed temporary classroom is of single storey and of flat roof 
construction.  The classroom will not be particularly prominent when 
viewed from outside of the site and will not feature in the surrounding 
street scenes. 
 

38. For the reasons given, the application complies with the requirements of 
Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan and the provisions of 
Section 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Residential amenity 
 
39. Saved Policy 59.BE (vii.) requires that development avoids unduly 

impacting upon the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings, in 
particular by way of overbearing impact, loss of light or outlook, 
overlooking, noise, fumes, and dust. These criteria are reiterated within 
Saved Policy 186.IN which requires that extensions to community facilities 
do not adversely affect the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
 

40. Whilst the proposed extensions will not serve to adversely affect the 
amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. The addition to the 
eastern side of the dwelling is single storey only and is relatively low profile 
in terms of its overall height. Whilst the rear extension is notably more 
substantial in this regard, an acceptable degree of separation is 
maintained to the eastern boundary such that it is not considered that the 
extension will be unduly overbearing, or adversely affect levels of light to 
or outlook from the neighbouring property to this side, No. 47 Valley Road.  
 

41. This extension will also be a minimum of 15m from the northern boundary 
of the site and as a result will not adversely affect the properties to the rear 
in these regards (Nos. 2 and 4 Heathlands Road respectively) or by way of 
any undue overlooking. It is acknowledged that the temporary building is 
positioned in much closer proximity to the rear boundary of the latter, 

18



 

 

however, it is flat roof in nature and not unduly excessive in scale or height 
with it spanning only a limited proportion of this boundary. It will not 
therefore by unduly overbearing or affect the levels of outlook available for 
the occupiers of No. 4 from their private amenity area to an unacceptable 
degree. The removal of the temporary structure once work is completed on 
the main building could also be covered by way of planning condition.  
 

42. With regards to the properties to the west, it is considered that the 
combination of the spacing to this side boundary along with the intervening 
Monks Brook and the screening provided by the adjacent trees also serve 
to limit any undue effects on amenity with regards to light, outlook or 
overbearing impact. The side facing windows proposed within the 
extension are located at high level as such that there will be no undue 
overlooking.  
 

43. Consideration must in addition be given to the potential for the level of 
increase in the capacity of the premises to generate additional noise and 
disturbance to neighbouring occupiers, with this principally being 
associated with the number of children being present in the external 
amenity and play areas. The Head of Environmental Health has advised 
that the development if permitted may increase the risk of impact upon 
amenity, but probably will not do so to a significant degree.  The premises 
has been able to substantially operate without complaint.  They only 
compliant logged concerning noise from children on the site was 
registered in October 2010. 
 

44. However in order to preserve the amenity of the neighbouring residential 
properties a condition can be applied requiring the details of external play 
provision, including the length, size and time of play sessions, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
should be applied. 

 
Highway matters 
 
45. Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that development has a satisfactory 

means of access and layout for vehicles, and Saved Policy 100.T requires 
that it is, or could be, well served by sustainable modes or transport and 
includes measures which minimise its impacts upon the existing transport 
network.  
 

46. In terms of staff, the submitted figures set out that 47% drive to work with 
the remaining 53% either car sharing, walking to work, cycling or using 
public transport. The supporting statement also sets out some of the 
measures which seek to encourage green travel, with these including a 
green travel plan, as well as the nursery looking to introduce a cycle to 
work scheme.  
 

47. The application proposes a 38% increase (to 69) in the capacity of the 
nursery when compared with the current limit of 50 children imposed by 
condition 2 of planning permission F/08/62770. However this will not result 

19



 

 

in an increase of staff members as set out within the planning statement 
submitted in support of the application. Whilst the aforementioned 
statistics are acknowledged, these factors will inevitably increase the trip 
rates to and from the premises, as well as increasing the number of on-site 
car parking spaces necessitated to serve the use.  
 

48. The Head of Transportation and Engineering has advised that the majority 
of the parents who will be utilising childcare are likely to be working, and 
the use of a vehicle would be the anticipated primary choice of transport 
for speed and convenience.  The application provides 4 parking spaces for 
drop-off / pick up purposes. Whilst this is unlikely to cater for all parents at 
any one time, to provide a full quantum of parking (as required to remove 
all potential of on street parking) would not be an efficient use of land, as 
individual parents are likely to have come and gone within a 10 minute 
period (maximum). 

 

49. In regard to the 19 staff to be employed on-site, whilst the travel plan 
information outlines 47% of staff currently drive to the nursery, this can 
change over time and so the Census 2011 travel to work by car figures are 
deemed more robust, which suggests that locally 63.9% travel to work by 
car. This suggests a staff parking requirement of 13 spaces on-site is 
provided, which this application proposes.  
 

50. With existing issues being reported as part of this application by members 
of the public and councillors however, with the primary concern being staff 
parking on the residential streets, it would be proposed that Traffic 
Regulation Orders are investigated they would prevent long stay parking of 
employee vehicles. This would appear to remove the primary highway 
concerns being raised. 

 

51. In line with the HCC Transport Contributions Policy, any development that 
causes additional 'multimodal' trips on the local highway network will be 
subject to a proportional request for transport developer contributions. 

 

52. The onwards potential for inconsiderate parking remains a concern. For 
this reason, it is also requested that a Traffic Regulation Order contribution 
is provided. This will pay for the legal process, public consultation, and 
eventually lining restrictions that will assist in reducing the potential for 
parking on the bends of junctions and indeed opposite them in close 
proximity to the site. There could also be a ‘no parking’ restriction 
investigated between certain hours to remove the opportunity for staff to 
park on the surrounding roads. 
 

53. The Council’s Head of Transportation and Engineering has raised no 
objection to the application on the grounds of a condition securing on-site 
parking provision to cater for the increase in the capacity of the nursery, 
appropriate transport developer contributions and a Traffic Regulation 
Order. 

 
 

20



 

 

Flood risk 
 
54. The site lies within the Environment Agency’s Flood Zones 2 and 3 and 

within an 8m buffer of a main river owing to its proximity to Monks Brook 
which runs adjacent to the western boundary of the site. The application is 
supported by the Environment Agency’s flood risk proforma which 
confirms that the floors levels within the proposed development of the 
existing premises will be set no lower than the existing property. On this 
basis and taking account of the other potential flood related impacts 
associated with the development, the Environment Agency have raised an 
objection to this part of application. 
 

55. However, both the Environment agency and the Council’s Engineers 
object to the proposed temporary classroom as it will be located within 
flood zone 3.  However, this relates to the lack of a flood risk assessment 
and information relating to the temporary classroom. A similar classroom 
in the same location as proposed under this application was proposed 
under the previous proposal F/16/77844.  At that time no objection was 
raised on floor risk grounds to the proposal as such the applicant had no 
expectation that such an issue would arise as part of this proposal.  The 
applicant is currently liaising with the Environment Agency in order to 
resolve the issue.  The Committee will be update at the meeting regarding 
the outcome of these discussions. 
 

56. The main works to the dwelling are therefore considered to comply with 
the requirements of Saved Policies 43.ES and 44.ES of the adopted Local 
Plan.  However, there are still matters outstanding with regard to the 
temporary classroom.  
 

Trees  
 

57. There are a range of mature and semi-mature trees on and adjacent to the 
application site, with Tree Preservation Orders associated with a number 
of these trees to the front, rear and western sides of the plot. The 
application is supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and 
Method Statement. This sets out that no trees are to be removed as part of 
the proposals, with pruning proposed to the two Oak trees (T1 and T2) to 
the rear of the site which lie in close proximity to the proposed temporary 
classroom, such as to facilitate this element of the development.  
 

58. The Head of Countryside and Trees (Tree Officer) has raised no objection 
subject to the imposition of conditions requiring adherence to the 
submitted method statement and in relation to necessitated tree protection 
measures. 

 

59. A further condition is required in order secure an update to the submitted 
arboricultural report.  The additional information required relates to the 
proposed installation of the temporary classroom in close proximity of the 
oak tree (T.2). The additional details should include specifications of the 

21



 

 

footings for the building and how utility services will be provided to the 
classroom. 

 
60. Subject to the imposition of these conditions, it is considered that there is 

no conflict with the requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE which requires 
that development is appropriate in relation to natural features and trees 
worthy of retention.  

 
Planning obligation /considerations 
 
61. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved Policy 

101.T of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), 
Policy DM23 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, 
the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and the requirements of 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a 
requirement for developers’ contributions to ensure on and off-site 
provision for facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the 
development, or to mitigate against any increased need/pressure on 
existing facilities.  
 

62. As identified above in this instance contributions towards sustainable 
transport infrastructure improvements as well as towards a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) in the locality are deemed to be necessitated by 
the development. This is on the grounds of an increase in multi-modal trips 
associated with the expanded capacity of the nursery. In addition, a TRO 
is deemed to be required in order to ultimately introduce lining restrictions 
in the vicinity of the site that will assist in preventing inconsiderate or 
obstructive parking that could result from the expansion of the nursery 
capacity.  
 

63. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will 
comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards the projects 
which are directly related to the development, and are fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. The 
contributions would be index-linked to ensure the contributions rise in line 
with the costs of providing the identified projects/measures. The 
obligations sought are necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms and to meet the needs generated by the new residents and 
the potential impact on existing services and facilities. 
 

64. The applicant is aware of these planning obligation requirements but their 
provision has not yet been secured.  
 

Other material considerations 
 
65. Reference needs to be made to the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local 

plan 2011-2029 July 2014.  However, very little weight can be given to 
these policies as, although the Submission Local Plan has not been 
formally withdrawn, the Council has confirmed that it has decided to 

22



 

 

prepare a new local plan which will cover the period up to 2036.  With 
regard to this application, the new policies essentially echo those of the 
current plan and are not considered to affect the recommendation put 
forward. 
 

Conclusion 
 
66. In conclusion the proposals would allow for the extension and 

enhancement of an existing community facility which would serve to meet 
a demonstrable need for childcare places within the locality. This revised 
scheme is consider on balance to maintain the character of the existing 
building and that of the Valley Road street scene.  The proposal is not 
considered to be to the detriment of the safety of the surrounding highway 
network. The proposal is not considered to give rise to any material harm 
to the amenities currently enjoyed by the occupants of the neighbouring 
properties.  
 

67. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to 
appropriate conditions.  The securing of appropriate developer 
contributions and a Traffic Regulation Order. 

 
 
 
 
 

23



 

 

 
 

24



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 16 November 2016 Case Officer Rosie Rivers 

 
 
SITE: 14 Kingsway Gardens, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 

1FE 
 
 Ref. F/16/79104 Received: 22/08/2016     (17/10/2016) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Ms Lin Lewis 

 
PROPOSAL: Two storey rear extension, addition of box dormer to side 

elevation & alterations to front facade 
  
AMENDMENTS: 02/11/16 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
PERMIT 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

following plans numbered: 470.PL.001 Rev A, 470.PL0002 Rev A, 470.PL.003 Rev 
A, 470.PL0004 Rev A, 470.PL.005 Rev A, 470.PL.006 Rev A, 470.PL.008 Rev A, 
470.PL.009 Rev A, 470.SU.001, 470.SU.002, 470.SU.004, 470.SU.005, 470.SU.006, 
470.SU.008, 470.PL.3D, 470.PL.SITE Rev C. Reason: For the avoidance of doubt 
and in the interests of proper planning. 

  
(2)  The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the date 

of this decision.   Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

  
(3)  No development shall start until details and samples of the materials to be used in 

the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the amenities 
of the area. 

  
(4)  The first floor windows on the south east and north west elevations shall be obscure 

glazed to Pilkingtons level 3 or equivalent with no more than a top-hung opening 
toplight.  Once installed the windows shall be permanently maintained in that 

25

Agenda Item 10



 

 

condition.  Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential 
properties. 

  
(5)  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking area has 

been provided in accordance with the approved plans and thereafter permanently 
retained and used only for the purpose of accommodating private motor vehicles 
incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as a residence.   Reason: To make 
provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway safety. 

  
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to 
the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a 
positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

  
Note to Applicant: It is requested that the building works are carried out considerately 
to minimise disruption to the occupiers of the neighbouring properties. The council 
operates a code of best practice, which is available on the council’s website 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk by following the links to Planning, Guidance on the process, 
scroll down to Guidance on Aspects of the Planning & Construction Process and 
select considerate builders advice note. 

  

 
 
Report: 
 
This application has been referred to Committee because a member of the committee 
lives in close proximity to the application site. 
 

Description of Application 
 

1. The application proposes a two storey extension to the rear of the dwelling and a 
box dormer window to the side of the dwelling. Roof lights would be positioned in 
the roof of the box dormer. 

 
2. Alterations are proposed to the front of the dwelling by replacing the existing 

timber balcony with a new glazed balustrade and a new metal clad covered 
walkway. 

 
3. Alterations are also proposed to the fenestration by replacing all of the windows 

and doors on the property. 
 

Site Characteristics 
 

4. The site consists of a detached two storey dwelling with the roof sloping down to 
single storey level. The property has parking to the front of the site and a timber 
clad balcony to the front of the site. 

 
5. Close boarded fencing is positioned on the side boundaries of the site and a low 

brick wall is located to the front of the site.  
 

26



 

 

6. A TPO trees in located to the very rear of the site on the boundary with the 
neighbouring property 1 Wychwood Grove. 

 
7. Kingsway Gardens consists of detached two storey dwellings. There are two main 

designs to the dwellings consisting of two storey dwellings with sloping roofs down 
to single storey level with balconies protruding to the front of the properties and 
two storey dwellings with tile hanging and balconies to the front of the properties. 
It is noted that a number of the two storey dwellings with tile hanging have had two 
storey side extensions. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
8. F/16/78455 - Two storey side and rear extension, single storey covered walkway 

to front and alterations to fenestration – Withdrawn 22/06/2016 
 

Representations Received 
 

9. Two letters of support has been received on the following grounds: 

 The updated plans reflect a more contemporary design in keeping with the rest 
of the road. 

 Concerns regarding building works and access to rear garden of neighbouring 
property 

 Concerns regarding proposed materials 

 Concerns regarding height of windows in relation to existing dwelling  

 Request side facing window is fixed shut 

 Concerns regarding contractor parking 
 

Consultation Responses 
 

10. Chandlers Ford Parish Council: None received 
 

11. Head of Transportation and Engineering; No objection, recommends condition in 
relation to parking 

 
Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 

 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Residential Area 
 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies; 59.BE, 104.T 
 

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: DM1, 
DM24 

 
12. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule of 
Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

27



 

 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards (January 
2009) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
13. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
14. Para 14 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and 

states that development proposals which accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless the 
adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or specific 
policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted (paragraph 
14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be 
“out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant 
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. 
In other words the closer the policies in the plan accord to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. 

 
Policy Commentary 

 
15. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which this 

application will be assessed. 
 

Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received 
 

16. The comments raised have been addressed in the report below. 
 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background 
 

17. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise." 
 

18. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 
 

Principle 
 

19. The site lies within the urban edge, as part of an established residential area. The 
principle of development is considered to be acceptable subject to the proposed 
scheme being appropriate in nature, design and siting, in accordance with the 
relevant local planning policies and guidance. 

28



 

 

 
20. In this case the relevant saved local plan policies are 59.BE and 104.T. 

 
21. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and proper 

account of the context of the site including the character and appearance of the 
locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting.  It 
also requires a high standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of 
access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, make provision for refuse 
and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes. Policy 104.T requires 
adequate off-highway parking to be provided. 

 
Character and appearance 

 
22. The application follows the previously withdrawn application F/16/78455. The 

application was withdrawn following concerns raised by officers regarding the form 
and design of the proposed extension to the dwelling.  

 
23. The current application proposes a two storey extension to the rear of the dwelling 

and a dormer window to the side of the property. The proposed two storey 
extension to the rear of the dwelling would extend across the rear of the property 
and follows the existing roof line of the dwelling. It is considered that the proposed 
extension to the rear of the property would be modest in size and scale and in 
keeping with the existing property. 

 
24. The dormer window positioned on the sloping roof of the existing dwelling is 

considered to be relatively large, however, it is acknowledged that a dormer 
window of a similar size and scale could be erected under permitted development. 
It is considered that the proposed dormer window due to the set back from the 
front of the dwelling and the dormer being set in from the side of the property sits 
well in the roof slope and does not dominate the existing roof form. Therefore 
having regard to the permitted development fall-back position no objection is 
raised to the size and scale of the proposed dormer windows. 

 
25. It is noted that other properties in the street have dormer windows in the sloping 

roof of the dwellings. Having reviewed the planning history for these dormer 
windows it is considered that they have been erected through permitted 
development rights.  

 
26. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed dormer window is relatively large in 

size and scale, it is considered that due to the position of the dormer window in 
the roof maintaining space to the side and front of the property and examples of 
other dormer windows in the roof the proposal would not cause material harm to 
character and appearance of the surrounding area to warrant a reason for refusal. 

 
27. The proposed alterations to the balcony and covered walkway to the front of the 

property are considered to be acceptable in terms of their form and design. The 
application also proposes to change the windows and door on the existing 
property to give the dwelling a more modern appearance. The materials to be 
used on the dormer windows and the covered walkway are proposed to be similar 

29



 

 

to link the two elements together. It is considered that the proposed materials will 
be an important feature of the dwelling and therefore a condition is recommended 
for details of the materials to be used to be submitted to ensure they are 
appropriate and in keeping with the character of the area. 

 
28. It is therefore considered that the proposed alterations to the dwelling are 

acceptable in terms of its form and design and would be in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore 
considered to comply with Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan. 

 
Residential amenity  

 
29. The proposed two storey extension to the rear of the property extends out 2m 

from the existing dwelling on the site. It is considered that having regard to the 
spacing maintained to the boundary and the modest depth of the proposed two 
storey extension it would not cause material harm to the amenities of the 
neighbouring properties in terms of over dominance or loss of light. 

 
30. In addition the proposed dormer window would be positioned in the roof of the 

dwelling and set in from the sides and rear of the proposed and is therefore not 
considered to impact on the amenities of the neighbouring properties. 

 
31. It is noted that a side facing window serving a first floor utility area is proposed in 

the side elevation facing no.16 Kingsway Gardens and a side facing window 
serving a bathroom is proposed in the side elevation facing no.12 Kingsway 
Gardens. The proposed plans show these windows to be obscurely glazed and 
therefore a condition is recommended to obscure glaze these windows to prevent 
overlooking to the neighbouring properties. 

 
32. The proposal is therefore not considered to cause material harm to the 

neighbouring amenities and accordance with Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan in this 
regard. 

 
33. Comments have been received from the neighbouring properties regarding 

parking and access during construction. Therefore an informative is recommended 
requesting that the building works is carried out considerately to minimise 
disruption to the occupiers of the neighbouring properties.  

 
Access & parking 

 
34. No alterations are proposed to the existing access on the site.  

 
35. The existing property has three bedrooms, the proposed extensions to the 

dwelling would result in a five bedroom dwelling on the site. The Council’s 
Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document requires that 
dwelling of this size provide three on site spaces. A site plan has been submitted 
with the application showing space for parking of three cars at the front of the site. 

 

30



 

 

36. Following consultation with the Council’s Head of Transportation and Engineering 
no objection to the parking layout has been raised. A condition is recommended to 
ensure the parking is provided on the site in accordance with the submitted plan. 

 
Other material considerations 

 
37. Reference needs to be made to the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local plan 2011-

2029 July 2014. However, very little weight can be given to these policies as, 
although the Submission Local Plan has not been formally withdrawn, the Council 
has confirmed that it has decided to prepare a new local plan which will cover the 
period up to 2036. With regard to this application, the new policies essentially 
echo those of the current plan and are not considered to affect the 
recommendation put forward.  

 
Conclusion 

 
38. In light of the assessment above the proposed development is considered to be 

acceptable and would comply with Policies 59.BE and 104.T of the Local Plan. 
 
 
 

31



 

 

 

32



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 16 November 2016 Case Officer Tree Officer 

 
 
SITE: Hocombe Mead Local Nature Reserve, South of Ashdown 

Road, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 5QD 
 
 Ref. T/16/79061 Received: 11/08/2016     (06/10/2016) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Eastleigh Borough Council 

 
PROPOSAL: Coppicing of woodland 
  
AMENDMENTS:  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
CONSENT TO TREE WORKS 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1) The tree works hereby consented shall be completed as required within 10 years 

of the date of this permission and shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and to British Standard for Tree Work BS3998:2010. Reason: 
To preserve the special amenity value of the trees. 

  
Note to Applicant: It is considered that, subject to compliance with the conditions 
attached to this permission, the proposed tree work is acceptable because it will 
not materially harm the character of the area, the amenity of neighbours or 
highway safety, and is in accordance with the policies and proposals of the 
development plan and after due regard to all other relevant material 
considerations the local planning authority is of the opinion that permission 
should be granted. 

  

 
 
 
 
Report: 
 
This application has been referred to committee as Eastleigh Borough Council is the 
applicant. 
 
The site and its surroundings 

33

Agenda Item 11



 

 

 
1. Hocombe Mead Local Nature Reserve South of Ashdown Road Chandler's 

Ford Eastleigh SO53 5QD, situated within the parish of Chandlers Ford. The 
reserve is flanked on all aspects by residential dwellings. 

 
Description of application 

2. Coppicing for conservation in accordance with Higher Level Stewardship 
Agreement with Natural England. Predominantly Hazel with some Ash, Birch, 
Cherry, Sweet Chestnut and Willow. The area was last coppiced in 2008. 
Coppicing is a traditional method of woodland management which takes 
advantage of the fact that many trees make new growth from the stump or 
roots if cut down. In a coppiced wood, tree stems are repeatedly cut down to 
near ground level. In subsequent growth years, many new shoots will emerge, 
and, after a number of years the coppiced tree, or stool, is ready to be 
harvested, and the cycle begins again. 

 
Topography 
 

3. The surrounding landscape has a number of footpaths and boardwalks that 
have been created with some having steep inclines. Some areas have been 
sectioned off using natural coppiced Hazel fencing (Dead hedging). 

 

Trees 
 
4. The area to the south of Ashdown Road and west of Ashdown Drive is 

predominantly historically coppiced Hazel with some mixed species woodland. 
The area is protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO No.58 of 1954 – W2 
within the order) 

 
Site characteristics 
 

5. There are over 8 hectares of woodland and meadow in this wildlife reserve 
which lays to the south of Hocombe Road in Chandlers Ford. Owned and 
managed by Eastleigh Borough Council it became the councils first Local 
Nature Reserve in 2008. 

 
Character of locality 
 
6. This area of Chandlers Ford is known for this nature reserve. It has been a 

managed site with significant importance for nature. 
 
Relevant planning history 
 
7. T/08/62263 - Coppicing of Hazel, Sweet Chestnut, Oak, Silver Birch, Willow 

as per woodland grant scheme – GRANTED 2009. 
 
8. T/09/65699 – Coppicing of mixed tree species – GRANTED 2009. 
 

34



 

 

9. T/10/67272 - Coppicing and conservation work to various trees – GRANTED 
2010. 
 

10. T/11/69642 - Coppicing of various trees – Granted 2011 
 

11. T/15/76884 - Coppicing & woodland management works 
 
Representations received 
 

12. No representations have been received. 
 
Policy context:  designation applicable to site 
 

 Within Site Of Nature Conservation Interest 
 
Policy commentary 
 
13. The above policies combine to form the criteria on which this application will 

be assessed with particular regard to impact on the trees and impact on 
amenity 

 
Assessment of proposal: Development plan and / or legislative background 
 
14. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:  “If 

regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise”. 

 
Impact of proposed works on trees  
 
15. Trees will be cut down to stump level and allowed to regenerate (re-coppice). 

Due to Hazels and other species quick regenerative ability within a short time 
will reshoot and blend with their surroundings, eventually enhancing the sylvan 
nature of the area.  

 
Impact of proposed works on amenity 
 
16. Coppicing the mixed broadleaves will have an instant effect on the areas 

visual amenity with the short term loss of the previous coppice regrowth; 
however this is a recognised method of management and will help to enhance 
biodiversity and future of the woodland. Only a small area is to be coppiced so 
views will not be radically changed. These areas of coppice produce regrowth 
rapidly through the growing season. Many species including butterflies are 
favourably affected by coppicing. Hazel coppice is particularly good for 
Dormice. The coppiced regrowth provides aerial walkways of interlinking 
branches, with the added benefit of the establishment of climbing and 
scrambling plants such as Honeysuckle and Bramble. All of these plants offer 
food sources for the dormice through their fruits or nuts, as well as providing 
the structural habitat necessary for these arboreal creatures. 

35



 

 

 
Other material considerations 
 
17. It is considered that there are no other material considerations to warrant a 

decision otherwise than in accordance with the Development Plan and 
legislative background. 

 
Conclusion 
 
18. It is the Tree Officers recommendation that rolling consent be granted and re-

coppicing allowed within the coupe for a period of 10 years. 
 

36



 

 

 
 
 

37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Fees and charges - Report of the Local Area Manager
	9 Planning Application - Little 1 Nursery, 49 Valley Road, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 1GS
	10 Planning Application - 14 Kingsway Gardens, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 1FE
	11 Planning application - Hocombe Mead Local Nature Reserve, South of Ashdown Road, Chandler's Ford, SO53 5QD

